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Grand Rapids, Michigan 49546 

 

 

Re:  OCR Docket No. 15-22-1033 

 

Dear Ms. Stark:        

 

This letter is to notify you of the disposition of the above-referenced complaint filed on 

XXXXX, with the U.S. Department of Education (Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR), 

against Charlotte Public Schools (the District) alleging that the District discriminated against a 

student (the Student) on the basis of disability.  Specifically, the complaint alleged that during 

the XXXX-XXXX school year, the District treated the Student differently based on disability 

when it XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX 

XXXX. 

 

OCR enforces Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and 

its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of 

disability by recipients of federal financial assistance.  OCR also enforces Title II of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Title II), 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq., and its 

implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. Part 35, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of 

disability by public entities.  As a recipient of federal financial assistance from the Department of 

Education and as a public entity, the District is subject to these laws. 

 

Based on the complaint allegations, OCR opened an investigation of the following legal issue:  

whether the District, on the basis of disability, excluded a student from participation in, denied a 

student the benefits of, or otherwise subjected a student to discrimination in its programs and 

activities based on the student’s disability in violation of the regulation implementing Section 

504 at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4, and the regulation implementing Title II at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130. 

 

XXXX  - PARRAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXX.   

 

XXXX  - PARRAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXX.   

 

OCR reviewed documents provided by the District and the Complainant.  OCR also conducted 

interviews with the Complainant and the XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 
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XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  After 

carefully considering the information obtained during the investigation, OCR determined that 

there is a cause for concern regarding the District’s XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX. 

 

Summary of Evidence  

The Student’s father told OCR that the District first discussed the Student’s participation in a 

XXXXX XXXXX with the Student’s family at the end of the XXXXX school year.  Specifically, 

in a XXXXX, XXXXX meeting, the District informed the family that it wanted the Student to 

participate XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  The Student’s father explained that, during the 

XXXXX school year, there was an incident when the Student XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  As a result, the District required the 

Student to XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  XXXXX - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX - 

SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX – PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX - PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX - PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX - PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX - PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

OCR also interviewed a District paraprofessional (the Paraprofessional) who participates in 

XXXXX XXXXX.  She explained that she has a kind of supervisory role there; she ensures that 

things go smoothly.  She also brings games for the students to play. XXXXX - SENTENCE 

REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX - 

SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.   

XXXXX - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX – PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

XXXXX – PARAGRAPH REMOVED – XXXXX.   

 

In the materials submitted to OCR, both the Complainant and the District included the Student’s 

IEP.  OCR’s review of the IEP did not reveal any reference to XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX described by the Complainant.  However, the Complainant provided OCR with what 

appears to be XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  XXXXX  - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX  - 

SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  XXXXX  - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  More 

time is needed on this objective.”  Another comment, dated XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 
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XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX.  The 

Complainant asserts that she was, until recently, unaware of these notes to the IEP, which she 

only learned due to a Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) request.  

 

Applicable Legal Standards 

 

The Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a) provides that no qualified 

person with a disability shall, on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity 

that receives federal financial assistance.  Title II’ s implementing regulation contains a similar 

provision for public entities at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a).  As a general rule, because Title II 

provides no less protection than Section 504, violations of Section 504 also constitute violations 

of Title II.  28 C.F.R. § 35.103. 

 

Also, the Section 504 regulation, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.33, requires public school districts to 

provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) to all students with disabilities in their 

jurisdictions.  An appropriate education is defined as regular or special education and related aids 

and services that are designed to meet the individual needs of students with disabilities as 

adequately as the needs of students without disabilities are met, and that are developed in 

accordance with the procedural requirements of 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.34-36.  Districts are required 

to conduct an evaluation of any person who, because of disability, needs or is believed to need 

special education or related services before taking any action with respect to the initial placement 

of the person in regular or special education and any subsequent significant change in placement.  

34 C.F.R. § 104.35(a).  Implementation of an IEP developed in accordance with the Individuals 

with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) is one means of meeting these requirements.  34 C.F.R. 

§ 104.33(b)(2). 

 

In interpreting evaluation data and in making placement decisions, a recipient school district 

must draw upon information from a variety of sources, establish procedures to ensure that 

information obtained from all such sources is documented and carefully considered, and ensure 

that the decision is made by a group of persons, including persons knowledgeable about the 

student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and the placement options.  34 C.F.R. § 104.35(c). 

 

Furthermore, the Section 504 regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.34(a) requires a recipient school 

district to educate each qualified student with a disability in its jurisdiction with students without 

a disability to the maximum extent appropriate to the needs of the student with a disability.  The 

Section 504 regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.34(a) also requires a recipient school district to place a 

student with a disability in the regular educational environment operated by the recipient unless 

the recipient demonstrates that the education of the student in the regular environment with the 

use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily.  Similarly, the Title II 

regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(d) requires a public school district to administer services, 

programs, and activities in the most integrated setting appropriate to the needs of a qualified 

student with a disability.  The Section 504 regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.34(b) requires a 

recipient school district, in providing or arranging for the provision of non-academic and 

extracurricular services and activities, including meals, recess periods, and the services and 

activities set forth in § 104.37(a)(2), to ensure that students with a disability participate with 
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students without a disability in such activities and services to the maximum extent appropriate to 

the needs of the student with a disability in question. 

 

The Section 504 regulation, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.6(a), provides that when OCR finds that a district 

has discriminated against persons on the basis of disability, the district shall take such remedial 

action as OCR deems necessary to overcome the effects of the discrimination.  Compensatory 

services are required to remedy any educational or other deficits that result from a student with a 

disability not receiving the evaluations or services to which they were entitled.   

 

Analysis and Conclusion 

 

To date, OCR’s investigation revealed that the District facilitates XXXXX XXXXX, a program 

which, according to the District, has the dual purpose of (1) assisting IEP and Section 504 

students with social skills related goals, and (2) encouraging students without IEPs and Section 

504 Plans to make friends with these students.  XXXXX  - SENTENCE REMOVED – XXXXX.  

Despite the District’s position that no students are mandated to participate in lunch bunch, OCR 

interviews with District staff, and a review of the Student’s IEP progress report and e-mails 

between staff and the Student’s parent, indicate a cause for concern that the Student’s 

participation XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX is not entirely voluntary.  Specifically, the IEP 

progress report discussion of XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX may have 

been effectively added to the Student’s IEP by the District. 

 

As a result, OCR has cause for concern that the Student’s participation XXXXX XXXXX 

XXXXX may have been a significant change in placement requiring the District to re-evaluate 

the Student, convene the Student’s team, and comply with the other requirements of 34 C.F.R. § 

104.35.  Additionally, OCR has cause for concern XXXXX XXXXX XXXXX could result in 

different treatment of the Student, as well as other students with disabilities, in violation of 

Section 504 and Title II.  Specifically, the concern is that the Student and other students with 

disabilities are not being educated to the maximum extent appropriate to their needs with 

students without disabilities pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 104.34. 

 

Under Section 302 of OCR’s Case Processing Manual, allegations under investigation may be 

resolved at any time when, prior to the issuance of a final investigative determination, the 

recipient expresses an interest in resolving the allegations and OCR determines that it is 

appropriate to resolve them because OCR’s investigation has identified concerns that can be 

addressed through a resolution agreement.  In this case, the District expressed an interest in 

resolving the allegation prior to the conclusion of OCR’s investigation and OCR determined 

resolution was appropriate.  On April 13, 2022, the District signed the enclosed Resolution 

Agreement, which, when fully implemented, will address all of the allegations in the complaint.  

OCR will monitor the implementation of the Resolution Agreement. 

 

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint and should not be interpreted to address the 

District’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues other than 

those addressed in this letter. This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR 
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case.  This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or 

construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR 

official and made available to the public. 

 

Please be advised that the District may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any 

individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, the individual may file another complaint alleging such treatment.   

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, OCR 

will seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal 

privacy. 

 

OCR looks forward to receiving the District’s first monitoring report by May 30, 2022.  For 

questions about implementation of the Agreement, please contact Ms. Aleksandra Chojnacki.  

Ms. Chojnacki will be overseeing the monitoring and can be reached by telephone at (216) 522-

4944 or by e-mail at Aleksandra.Chojnacki@ed.gov.  If you have questions about this letter, 

please contact me by e-mail at Nathaniel.McDonald@ed.gov.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/ 

 

Nathaniel J. McDonald 

Supervisory Attorney/Team Leader  

 

Enclosure 

 




